

Survey

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/cytogfr

Integration of BMP and Wnt signaling via vertebrate Smad1/5/8 and *Drosophila* Mad

Edward Eivers, Hadrien Demagny, E.M. De Robertis*

Howard Hughes Medical Institute and Department of Biological Chemistry, University of California, Los Angeles, CA 90095-1662, United States

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Available online 5 November 2009

Keywords: BMP Wnt FGF Smad Mitosis asymmetry BMPs pattern the dorsal-ventral axis of vertebrate embryos. Smad1/5/8 transduces the BMP signal, and receives phosphorylation inputs from both MAPK and GSK3. Phosphorylation of Smad1 by MAPK and GSK3 result in its polyubiquitination and transport to the centrosome where it is degraded by the proteasome. These linker phosphorylations inhibit BMP/Smad1signaling by shortening its duration. Wnt, which negatively regulates GSK3 activity, prolongs the BMP/Smad1 signal. Remarkably, linker-phosphorylated Smad1 has been shown to be inherited asymmetrically during cell division. *Drosophila* contains a single Smad1/5/8 homologue, Mad, and is stabilized by phosphorylation-resistant mutations at GSK3 sites, causing Wingless-like effects. We summarize here the significance of linker-phosphorylated Smad1/Mad in relation to signal intensity and duration, and how this integrates the Wnt and BMP pathways during cell differentiation.

© 2009 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction: embryonic axis formation and the double gradient model	357
	1.1. Dorsal-ventral patterning: a morphogenetic gradient of BMP ligands	358
	1.1.1. Intracellular transduction of the BMP signal	358
	1.2. Anterior–posterior patterning and Wnt signaling	358
2.	Regulation of Smad1 via linker phosphorylations downstream of BMP	359
	2.1. Inhibitory Smad1 linker phosphorylations by MAPK	359
	2.2. GSK3/Wnt regulates BMP/Smad1 signal termination	360
3.	Asymmetric inheritance of Smad1	360
4.	Smad1 signal duration: phenotypic similarities between BMP and Wnt antagonists in the developing embryo	361
5.	Linker regulation of Drosophila Mad	361
	5.1. Mad linker phosphorylations: BMP dependent or independent?	361
	5.2. Phospho-resistant Mad mutants display Wg-like phenotypes	362
	5.3. Mad and Smad1 are required for segment formation	363
	5.4. The ancestry of segmentation	363
6.	Conclusions	364
	Acknowledgements	364
	References	364

1. Introduction: embryonic axis formation and the double gradient model

Understanding how cells receive and integrate multiple signals is a major challenge in cell and developmental biology. Nowhere is this more apparent than in a rapidly dividing embryo, which has to undergo cell fate decisions in response to a multitude of growth factor signals over narrow periods of time. These extracellular signals are critically regulated both in time and space and are fine

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 310 206 1463; fax: +1 310 206 2008. *E-mail addresses*: eeivers@mednet.ucla.edu (E. Eivers),

HDemagny@mednet.ucla.edu (H. Demagny), ederobertis@mednet.ucla.edu (E.M. De Robertis).

^{1359-6101/\$ –} see front matter \circledcirc 2009 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2009.10.017

tuned by a vast network of inhibitors and activators. Two major morphogens exist in developing *Xenopus* embryos, the BMP (bone morphogenetic protein) and the Wnt gradients (Fig. 1). These gradients are perpendicular to each other and are responsible for tissue position and determination along these axes, patterning the embryo from dorsal to ventral (D–V) and anterior to posterior (A– P) [1]. Both these signals are seamlessly integrated and this can be demonstrated experimentally in *Xenopus* embryos. When a blastula embryo is equally cut in half, with each half containing a dorsal and ventral part, the embryo can self-regulate, forming perfectly identical twins [2]. Below we discuss signaling by the BMP and Wnt morphogens and analyze recent advances in our understanding of signal integration along the D–V and A–P gradients at the level of Smad1/5/8 linker phosphorylations [3–5].

1.1. Dorsal-ventral patterning: a morphogenetic gradient of BMP ligands

The earliest requirement for BMP signaling in an embryo is during the patterning of cell fates along its D–V axis. Formation of a D–V gradient of BMP signals has been evolutionary conserved and is utilized by both vertebrates and invertebrates [2,4,6–8]. In vertebrate embryos like *Xenopus* and zebrafish, BMPs pattern ventral cell fates, while BMP repression determines dorsal cell fate (Fig. 1); this D–V polarity is reversed in invertebrate embryos such as *Drosophila*. The gradient of BMP signals subdivides the *Xenopus* ectoderm from ventral to dorsal into epidermis, neural crest, and central nervous system, while the mesoderm is subdivided into blood island, lateral plate mesoderm (kidney), somite, and notochord. Thus, a ventral gradient of extracellular BMPs regulates the initial tissue-type differentiations of the vertebrate embryo.

The main BMPs involved in D–V patterning in the *Xenopus* embryo are the ventrally expressed BMP4 and BMP7 and the dorsally expressed BMP2 and ADMP. Depletion of all four BMPs using injected antisense morpholino oligo nucleotides causes this robust morphogenetic field to collapse, resulting in complete neuralization of the developing embryo [9]. This is a spectacular transformation of the embryo, because the entire ectoderm becomes covered by central nervous system (CNS), in particular brain tissue. If any one of the four BMPs is not depleted, the embryo retains some D–V patterning. This indicates that both the dorsal and the ventral poles of the embryo serve as sources of BMP signals. In zebrafish embryos, mutation of *bmp2b* or *bmp7* result in strong dorsalization or neuralization of the embryo [10–12], demonstrating that the requirement for BMPs in the specification of ventral fates has been evolutionary conserved [13].

The main extracellular regulators of BMP ligands are Chordin and Noggin, two BMP antagonists secreted by the dorsal Spemann organizer at the onset of gastrulation [14,15]. Chordin and Noggin help create and maintain a D–V gradient of BMP and induce dorsal cell fates. Anti-BMPs do not directly signal dorsal fate, but the antagonism of BMP signaling by extracellular binding causes dorsal cell differentiation by decreasing BMP signaling levels [16–18]. The requirement for BMP inhibition was demonstrated by knockdown of Chordin, Noggin and a third BMP antagonist, Follistatin, in *Xenopus tropicalis* embryos. This resulted in severe loss of neural tissue and massive expansion of ventral cell fates [19]. Two opposing ventral and dorsal signaling centers of the gastrula embryo provide the initial basis for D–V patterning, and an elaborate biochemical pathway of extracellular protein–protein interactions has been found to be required to maintain a well-regulated BMP morphogenetic field [4,20].

1.1.1. Intracellular transduction of the BMP signal

BMPs transduce their intracellular signal via BMPR (BMP receptor) activation followed by transcription factor phosphorylation. BMPs first bind to and activate their transmembrane serine/ threonine kinase receptors, which in turn phosphorylate the transcription factors Smad1/5/8 at its two C-terminal serines (SVS). Phosphorylated Smad1^{Cter} binds to Smad4 (co-Smad) and translocates and accumulates in the nucleus, activating BMP-responsive genes (Fig. 2) [21,22], such as BMP4/7 and others. A dynamic D-V nuclear gradient of pSmad1^{Cter} has been shown in a number of model organisms such as Drosophila [23,24], zebrafish [25] and Xenopus [20]. At very low levels of pSmad1^{Cter}, caused by the extracellular inhibitory activity of Chordin and Noggin on BMP ligands, dorsally expressed genes are transcribed. Ventral genes are activated by BMP signals. The dorsal and ventral centers of the gastrula express molecules of similar biochemical activities but under reciprocal transcriptional control. This explains how a selfregulating field is maintained in the early embryo [9]. When the amount of one molecule is lowered in the dorsal side, the gradient can be restored by the expression of ventral counterparts [9,20]. For example, the dorsal organizer expresses Chordin, while the ventral center expresses a Chordin-related BMP-binding molecule called CV2 (Crossveinless-2) [26,27]. When Chordin and CV2 are depleted simultaneously, the embryo reaches very high BMP levels, indicating that CV2 in the ventral side can compensate for loss-of Chordin in the dorsal signaling center [28].

1.2. Anterior-posterior patterning and Wnt signaling

The main determinant of the A–P axis in the early embryo is provided by Wnt signaling [1,29]. A Wnt morphogen gradient is generated by a number of extracellular Wnt ligands, which are modulated by a diverse group of secreted Wnt antagonists such as Dkk-1 (Dickkopf-1) and sFRPs (secreted Frizzled-related proteins) [30]. In *Xenopus* and amphioxious embryos, the Wnt signaling



Fig. 1. (Left) Expression of *Chordin* and *BMP4* on opposite centers of a *Xenopus* embryo. (Right) Model illustrating the two perpendicular morphogenetic gradients of BMP and Wnt. Cells sense their position within these Cartesian-coordinates, which specify their fate in the body plan [4].



Fig. 2. Integration of multiple extracellular signaling pathways at the level of Smad1/5/8 phosphorylations. BMP-dependent C-terminal phosphorylation of Smad1, activates target gene expression whereas, MAPK and GSK3 linker-phosphorylations promote degradation terminating the BMP/Smad1 signal. Wnt prolongs BMP signals by inhibiting GSK3 phosphorylation.

gradient is maximal at the posterior blastopore [1,31,32], and its signal becomes lower in anterior regions (Fig. 1). When neuralized *Xenopus* ectodermal explants are microinjected with varying doses of Wnt DNA, posterior markers are induced [33]. In planarians, A–P specification is also regulated by Wnt signaling, since inhibition of the canonical Wnt pathway by RNAi causes ectopic regeneration of head structures [34,35]. A–P patterning by a Wnt gradient appears to be a universal property of animal development. At later stages, the A–P axis becomes subdivided into segments in many organisms. The A–P patterning within each segment also requires Wnt signals [4].

The organizer region of the frog embryo not only secretes BMP antagonists, but a cocktail of Wnt inhibitors, which include Frzb-1, sFRP-2, Crescent, and Dkk-1 [36–40]. Inhibition of the Wnt signaling pathway at early gastrula stage plays a vital role in head induction. When Dkk is overexpressed in *Xenopus* embryos it has potent head-inducing activity, resulting in an expanded anterior neural plate at the expense of epidermal tissues [38]. However, the anterior neural inducing activity of anti-Wnts also requires inhibition of BMP signaling to generate head structures [1,37].

Wnt signaling involves ligand binding to its Frizzled/ lipoprotein receptor-related protein 6 (LRP6) co-receptor complex on the extracellular cell surface. These receptors then transduce an intracellular signal through a number of proteins which include Dishevelled, GSK-3 (glycogen synthase kinase-3), Axin, APC (adenomatous polyposis coli), and the transcriptional regulator β -catenin. In the absence of Wnt signaling, β -catenin levels in the cytoplasm are normally kept low by continuous proteasomemediated degradation, involving a complex containing GSK-3/APC/ Axin [30]. When a cell receives a Wnt signal this degradation pathway is inhibited, resulting in nuclear accumulation of β - catenin. Nuclear β -catenin then interacts with other transcription factors such as LEF/TCF (lymphoid enhancer-binding factor1/T cell-specific transcription factor) to initiate transcription of Wnt responsive genes [30].

2. Regulation of Smad1 via linker phosphorylations downstream of BMP

The BMP transcription factor Smad1 is further regulated by inhibitory "linker" phosphorylations. The linker region of Smads lies between its MH1 (Mad homology domain, DNA binding) and MH2 (protein interaction) domains with a large number of potential phosphorylatable Serines and Threonines.

2.1. Inhibitory Smad1 linker phosphorylations by MAPK

Smad1 was first shown to be a target of growth factor signaling through the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway in human cultured cell lines [41]. MAPK phosphorylations activated by epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) occur at four specific MAPK/Erk recognition consensus sites (PXS[PO3]P) within the linker region of Smad1. MAPK phosphorylation prevents nuclear accumulation of Smad1, and therefore inhibits its intracellular transcriptional activity [41]. Mutation of the Serines at the four MAPK sites into Alanines rendered Smad1 resistant to EGFRinduced phosphorylation and inhibition [41]. This discovery provided the first evidence of the antagonistic action of MAPK linker phosphorylation on the BMP signaling pathway.

The opposing BMP and EGFR/MAPK inputs on Smad1 suggested an explanation for the long-standing question of how fibroblast growth factors (FGFs) and insulin-like growth factors (IGFs) induce neural tissue [42–46]. This was a puzzle, because BMP antagonists such as Chordin and Noggin cause neural differentiations similar to those of FGF and IGF [2,47]. Microinjection experiments and biochemical assays using Xenopus embryos demonstrated that MAPK/Erk is activated by both FGF and IGF causing an inhibitory phosphorylation in Smad1 that induces ectoderm to differentiate as neural tissue instead of epidermis [47]. In gain-of-function experiments microinjection of phosphorylation-resistant Smad1 mRNA induced ectodermal cells to become epidermal tissue at the expense of neural fates. These data demonstrated that the epidermalinducing activity of Smad1 requires low BMP antagonists, high BMP, and low levels of MAPK signals activated by receptor tyrosine kinases [47-49]. During organ development, there are many situations in which FGF and BMP signals have opposing functions. Examples include: limb development, lung branching morphogenesis, cranial suture fusion, and tooth development [47]. These opposing effects may also involve the integration of FGF/MAPK signals and BMP signals at the level of Smad1/5/8 phosphorylations.

The regulatory cross-talk between the BMP and MAPK pathways was demonstrated in knock-in mice containing Smad1 forms that are resistant to phosphorylation by MAPK in the Smad1 linker region. These studies indicated a requirement for linker phosphorylation in gastrointestinal and reproductive tract development [50]. Using embryonic fibroblasts from these knock-in mice, Sapkota et al. used a BMP reporter gene to show that FGF inhibits signaling by BMP [51]. Importantly, exogenous FGF failed to inhibit BMP signaling in Smad1 linker phosphorylation-resistant knock-in mutant mouse embryonic fibroblasts. In addition, FGF inhibition of BMP signaling has also been reported in rat embryonic dorsal spinal cord precursor cultures, in which FGF2 addition prevents nuclear accumulation of pSmad1^{Cter}, sequestering it in the cytoplasm in a MAPK-dependent manner [52].

Phosphorylation by MAPK has been shown not to be solely restricted to the linker domain. *Drosophila* Mad, which is the homolog of vertebrate Smad1/5/8, is phosphorylated by a MAPK-related kinase called Nlk (Nemo-like kinase) [53]. Nlk, an enzyme known to be involved in the Wingless/Wnt pathway, phosphorylates Mad at a conserved serine residue in its MH1 DNA binding domain. This phosphorylation inhibits BMP signaling by preventing nuclear accumulation of pMad^{Cter}, thus inhibiting the activation of BMP-responsive genes [53].

2.2. GSK3/Wnt regulates BMP/Smad1 signal termination

Extensive sequence analysis within the linker region of Smad1 revealed a number of potential GSK3 phosphorylation sites [3,51]. GSK3 phosphorylation requires a pre-phosphorylated phosphate located four amino acids downstream of a Serine or Threonine (S/TXXXS/T[PO₃)] [54] (Fig. 2). In Smad1, GSK3 is primed by MAPK sites that provide the priming phosphate [3,51]. Linker phosphorylation by GSK3 had an inhibitory effect on BMP signal transduction. Mutation of the GSK3 sites into Alanines resulted in strongly ventralized phenotypes (high BMP signaling) in injected *Xenopus* embryos [3].

Pulse-chase experiments demonstrated that BMP signaling triggered three successive phosphorylations of Smad1 in cultured cell assays [3]. The first phosphorylation caused by BMPR activation, occurs in the C-terminal region of Smad1 (Fig. 2). BMP determines the intensity or amplitude of the BMP signal. The two next phosphorylations in the linker region, provided first by MAPK and then by GSK3, determine the duration of the BMP/ pSmad1^{Cter} signal. We deduce that the duration of the signal is a key regulatory step, because inhibition of MAPK or GSK3 in cell culture prolongs the Smad1 C-terminal signal [3].

Once Smad1 is phosphorylated in the linker region by both kinases, signal termination is set in motion. Smurf1 is an E3-ubiquitin protein ligase (of the WW-Hect family), which restricts BMP signaling and is required for the degradation of Smad1 [55–57]. Linker phosphorylation of Smad1 is essential for Smurf1 binding to its recognition motif, PPXY, which is located near the linker phosphorylation sites [3,51]. Smad1 is then polyubiquitinated and degraded in proteasomes (Fig. 2)[3]. Thus, the inhibitory phosphorylations of the MAPK and GSK3 sites regulate the duration of the Smad1/5/8 signal. At high FGF levels the BMP signal will be shorter. Wnt signaling inhibits GSK3 and therefore at high Wnt levels the BMP signal is of longer duration. In this way, BMP determines the intensity of the Smad1/5/8 response, while FGF decreases and Wnt increases its duration (Fig. 2).

3. Asymmetric inheritance of Smad1

Termination of the Smad1/5/8 signal involves linker phosphorylations at the MAPK and GSK3 sites and polyubquitinylation.



Fig. 3. (A) Asymmetric distribution of pSmad1 targeted for degradation in self-renewing human embryonic stem cells. (B) When the proteosomal machinery is inhibited pSmad1^{GSK3} accumulates in a pericentrosomal nuclear bay. (C) Model illustrating asymmetric inheritance of pericentrosomal material (green) during mitosis [58].

Smad1 targeted for degradation also requires transport along microtubules to be degraded by the proteasomal machinery in the pericentrosomal region of the cell [58]. Inhibition of the proteasomal enzymatic machinery using Lactacystin, a chemical inhibitor, caused accumulation of pSmad1 marked for degradation in the centrosomal region (Fig. 3A).

Unexpectedly, in cultured cells, particularly in human embryonic stem cells, we observed that linker-phosphorylated Smad1 was asymmetrically distributed during mitosis [58] (Fig. 3B). This asymmetry took place in stem cells undergoing self-renewal, which were supposed to be equal divisions. Analysis of Cos7 cells showed a similar tendency to segregate pSmad1^{MAPK} or pSmad1^{CSK3} asymmetrically, with one of the dividing daughter cells retaining the linker-phosphorylated Smad1 [58]. The asymmetric segregation is not a unique property of Smad1, for other proteins targeted for degradation, such as phospho- β -catenin and total polyubiquitinated proteins (which include hundreds of cellular proteins) are also unequally segregated between daughter cells.

This asymmetry appears to be a general property of cell division as shown in the model in Fig. 3C. When the centrioles separate before mitosis to occupy opposite cell poles, the pericentrosomal material is inherited preferentially by one of the daughter cells. This simple cellular mechanism can explain the mitotic asymmetries. To investigate if this remarkable phenomenon occurred in vivo, an antibody was raised against the single MAPK phosphorylation site present in the linker region of *Drosophila* Mad. The pMad^{MAPK} antibody stained a single bright spot in every blastoderm cell and co-localized close to one of the two centrosomes [58].

The asymmetric distribution of phosphorylated proteins targeted for degradation uncovered an interesting phenomenon and raises many questions. Is it a cleansing mechanism so one daughter remains pristine, simply a case of garbage the cell wants to get rid of? Or are the asymmetric proteins targeted for degradation junk the cell might want to reuse? Is this asymmetry regulated by extracellular signals? These and other questions are under active investigation. Since the first description of mitosis by Flemming in 1882, studies on somatic cell division had focused on the equal partition of cellular materials. The new phospho-specific Smad1 MAPK and GSK3 antibodies were of very high titer and marked proteins destined for degradation. These new reagents made possible the discovery of inequalities in many mitoses, which we hope will advance the cell biology of signaling.

4. Smad1 signal duration: phenotypic similarities between BMP and Wnt antagonists in the developing embryo

With the advent of modern molecular embryology it became clear that D–V or A–P pattern formation were intertwined. For example, overexpression of BMP or Wnt antagonists in embryos, such as Chordin or Dkk-1 respectively, generated almost indistinguishable dorsalized phenotypes [3]. These and other experiments suggested some type of cross-talk between the BMP and Wnt pathways. The node of interaction has now been shown to reside at the level of Smad1GSK3 linker phosphorylations. Wnt was shown to inhibit phosphorylation of Smad1 by GSK3 [3]. This stabilizes the Smad1 transcription factor, allowing it to extend the duration of the BMP signal.

The intensity of the BMP signal can be lengthened or shortened via linker phosphorylations [3]. The pSmad1^{Cter} signal intensity will be highest in the ventral region of the gastrula embryo, where BMP is highest. The Wnt pathway, which is strongest in the posterior region of the embryo, provides an extracellular signal that prolongs the duration of the pSmad1^{Cter} signal by inhibiting GSK3 phosphorylation of Smad1, preventing its degradation in the cell (Fig. 2). The implications of these experiments go beyond a

simple point of signal convergence. These studies help explain how an embryo reads, processes, and integrates the BMP and Wnt morphogenetic gradients in an embryo, thus determining the overall positional information that determines where the future organs or appendages will develop within the body plan (Fig. 1).

5. Linker regulation of Drosophila Mad

Drosophila Mad, like its vertebrate counterparts Smad1/5/8. contains both MAPK and GSK3 phosphorylation sites within its linker domain. However, unlike the vertebrate BMP-Smads, Mad contains just a single canonical MAPK phosphorylation site and two upstream GSK3 sites. With a reduced number of phosphorylation sites and just one gene, Drosophila provided an ideal developmental model to study cross-talk between Wg (Wingless) and BMP signaling [59]. We mutated Mad MAPK (MMM) or GSK3 (MGM) Serine phosphorylation sites into Alanines. Expression of these constructs was driven in wing imaginal discs using the UAS-Gal4 system [60]. Large amounts of ectopic vein and crossvein-like tissue were induced in adult wings [59], a sign of increased Dpp (Decapentaplegic, a homologue of BMP2/4) signaling. MGM overexpression also increased expression of Dpp target genes Spalt and Optomotor-blind in wing discs, without increasing Dpp expression levels. Mutation of either phosphorylation site prevented Smurf-induced ubiquitination and degradation of Mad [59], explaining how point mutations in Mad result in a hyperactive transcription factor.

5.1. Mad linker phosphorylations: BMP dependent or independent?

To determine whether the Mad linker phosphorylations were always BMP-dependent, polyclonal phospho-specific antibodies were raised against both the MAPK and GSK3 phosphorylation sites. Whole-mount immunostaining of blastoderm embryos was carried out to detect in vivo localization of the pMad^{MAPK} and pMad^{GSK3}. A narrow dorsal stripe was present containing strong nuclear accumulation of linker-phosphorylated forms of pMad. These MAPK and GSK3 phospho-stainings tracked pMad^{Cter} and were Dpp-dependent, as they were absent in Dpp null embryos. However, pMad^{MAPK} and pMad^{GSK3} remained in the rest of the blastoderm embryo and therefore appear to be also Dppindependent. pMad^{MAPK} stained a single bright cytoplasmic spot of antigen usually adjoining one of the cellular centrosomes, where its degradation takes place [58,59]. The persistence of the asymmetric centrosome-associated spots in Dpp null embryos indicates that MAPK and GSK3 phosphorylations can occur independently of Dpp.

The Dpp-independent in vivo staining was also supported by *Drosophila* S2 cell culture experiments using the Mad "null" mutant alleles, Mad¹⁰ and Mad¹². Both these mutants contain point mutations in the MH2 domain of the transcription factor that prevent BMPR phosphorylation of Mad and are described in the literature as nulls. cDNAs encoding MWT, Mad¹⁰ or Mad¹² were expressed in *Drosophila* S2 cells, and it was found that MWT had phospho-Mad^{Cter} (as expected), while both mutants did not have any C-terminal phosphorylation. However, the pMad^{MAPK} and pMad^{GSK3} sites were phosphorylated normally in the mutant proteins. These data showed that Mad¹⁰ and Mad¹² proteins were stably translated and were nulls for Dpp C-terminal phosphorylation, but were still regulated by MAPK and GSK3 linker phosphorylations, further supporting a Dpp-independent regulation of the linker domain of Mad [59].

In microinjected *Xenopus* embryos, *Mad*¹² mRNA reduced forebrain structures. When the GSK3 sites of Mad¹² were mutated (mimicking a protein receiving a maximal Wnt signal), the head region was almost eliminated. These results suggest that Mad

linker phosphorylations can be BMP-dependent or BMP-independent, and that Mad can still function in A–P axis patterning in the absence of C-terminal phosphorylation [59].

5.2. Phospho-resistant Mad mutants display Wg-like phenotypes

The *Drosophila* studies revealed that Wg cannot only determine the stability of Mad by inhibiting GSK3 phosphorylation, as in the vertebrates [3], but that Mad stabilized by Wg is involved in canonical Wg signaling. This is a notable discovery, which places Mad as transducer of both the Dpp and Wg pathways [59].

When Mad resistant to GSK3 phosphorylation (MGM) was driven in wing imaginal discs, additional Wg-dependent sensory bristles were formed along the anterior wing margin, whereas overexpression of MWT had little effect. Analysis of senseless, a Wg target gene required for sensory bristle formation, revealed a marked expansion of the number of cells overexpressing MGM.

MGM cell clones (marked by yellow [61]) induced ectopic wing margins (Fig. 4A), while MWT clones had no effect on the wing margin. In knockdown experiments, UAS-Mad RNAi clones resulted in loss of wing margin tissue (Fig. 4B), a reliable readout for Wg loss-of-function. Thus, overexpression of Mad GSK3 phosphorylation-resistant mutant protein, which mimics Mad receiving a maximal possible dose of Wg, caused Wg-like phenotypes (in the absence of increased Wg signals). Conversely, Mad depletion caused Wg loss-of-function phenotypes. Mad, a protein that is phosphorylated by GSK3 in a Wg-regulated manner, appears to be a component of the Wg signal transduction pathway.



Fig. 4. Drosophila Mad transduces Wg signals. (A-B) Overexpression of MGM in clones induce duplications, and Mad depletion resulted in loss-of the margin. (C) Wild-type cuticle. (D-D' and E-E') Lawns of row 5 denticles in Mad RNAi or Wg null cuticles [59].

5.3. Mad and Smad1 are required for segment formation

A remarkable finding from the study of linker phosphorylation regulation of *Drosophila* Mad was its involvement in segmental patterning. Maternal depletion of Mad using a pUASp-Mad RNAi (which can be expressed in the oocyte) caused denticle belt fusions at larval stages [59]. These fusions replaced regions of naked cuticle with lawns of large denticles of the same type (row 5) as those seen in Wg null cuticles (Fig. 4C and D) [62]. In gain-offunction experiments, overexpression of Mad GSK3 mutant caused denticle belts to be replaced by regions of naked cuticle, mimicking Wg overexpression [59]. Thus, depletion or overexpression of Mad generated Wg-like phenotypes, indicating that Mad functions in the Wg signaling pathway during segmental patterning.

Finding a role for Mad in segmentation was surprising, since the segmentation process had previously been extensively studied in classical *Drosophila* genetic screens [63,64] and Mad had not been implicated as part of the segmentation machinery. The discovery of this new role for Mad after so many years, may be explained by the fact that Mad appears to also function independently of Dpp, and that the Mad¹⁰ and Mad¹² null alleles are nulls only for the BMP pathway, retaining linker regulation.

5.4. The ancestry of segmentation

The role of Mad in segmentation appears to be evolutionary conserved, as it was found that Smads have a role in somite border formation in *Xenopus* embryos. When the main maternally expressed Smad, Smad8 [65], was depleted in the C3 blastomere (using a specific morpholino oligonucleotide), segmental somite borders were erased in the injected side at the tadpole stage (Fig. 5A–C). The Smad8 transcription factor designated as Smad8 in *Xenopus* probably corresponds to Smad5 of other vertebrates [25,65]. Thus, the Mad/Smad5/8 transcription factors are required for segmentation both in *Drosophila* and *Xenopus*. These results are of considerable evolutionary interest.

Many developmental mechanisms have been shown to be conserved throughout evolution [4]. However, no common genes required for segment formation have been found between vertebrates and Drosophila. Segmentation in vertebrates depends on the cyclic oscillation of Notch pathway transcripts in the posterior paraxial mesoderm of the embryo [66]. Given that BMP/ Smad signals have a duration of 1–2 h in cultured cells [3], and are regulated by GSK3 phosphorylations, Smad1/5/8 could be a potential regulator of the segmentation clock. Wnt pathway genes cycle rhythmically during segmentation in vertebrates [66], offering an interesting possibility for regulating Smad5/8 activity by modulating GSK3 activity. Notch, which is involved in spider and cockroach segmentation [67,68], is not required for Drosophila segmental formation. We have now found that Smad5/8 is required for the formation of segmental boundaries in *Xenopus* somites and that Mad is required for Drosophila segment patterning. This unexpected conserved role for Mad/Smad is important from an Evo-Devo perspective because it suggests that



Fig. 5. (A) C3 Xenopus blastomere injection targets somites in Xenopus. (B) Normal somite border pattern on injected side. (C) Microinjection of Smad8-MO erase segmental somite borders [59]. (D) Comparison of Smad/Mad linker regulation in vertebrate and Drosophila.

the last common ancestor shared between *Drosophila* and vertebrates, Urbilateria, might have been segmented [69].

6. Conclusions

Finding new nodes of integration is essential to understanding how the multitude of signals received by each cell is read and interpreted in embryos and adult tissues. The discovery that Smad1/5/8 and Drosophila Mad receive negative linker phosphorvlations from both MAPK and GSK3 not only explains how the BMP signal is terminated, but also uncovered a novel cell biological pathway of how Smad1/Mad is transported to and degraded in the centrosomal region of a cell. Linker-phosphorylated forms of Smad1 are asymmetrically distributed in dividing cells and inherited unequally by daughter cells after cell division. The demonstration that active Wnt signals, which inhibit GSK3 activity, prolong the duration of the BMP/pSmad1^{Cter} signal helps explain the similarities between the dorsalizing phenotypes of anti-BMPs and anti-Wnts when overexpressed in Xenopus embryos. The intensity of the BMP signal is transduced by Smad1/5/8 in the form of C-terminal phosphorylations that determine the D-V axis. The duration of the BMP signal [4] is regulated by the Wnt morphogenetic gradient that specifies the A-P axis. The finding that three major signaling pathways – MAPK, Wnt/GSK3 and BMP – are integrated at the level of Mad/Smad1/5/8 both in the vertebrates and Drosophila (Fig. 5D) has interesting implications for the evolution of animal forms through variations on an ancestral gene tool-kit (Fig. 5D) [4]. Although much has been learned about the role of Smad1/Mad as a mode of signaling integration, many open questions remain to be answered before we understand the function of these remarkable transcription factors.

Acknowledgements

We thank members of our laboratory for critical readings of this manuscript. Our work is supported by the NIH (HD21502-23) and the Howard Hughes Medical Institute.

References

- [1] Niehrs C. Regionally specific induction by the Spemann-Mangold organizer. Nat Rev Genet 2004;6:425-34.
- [2] De Robertis EM. Spemann's organizer and self-regulation in amphibian embryos. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2006;7:296–302.
- [3] Fuentealba LC, Eivers E, Ikeda A, Hurtado C, Kuroda H, Pera EM, et al. Integrating patterning signals: Wnt/GSK3 regulates the duration of the BMP/Smad1 signal. Cell 2007;131:980–93.
- [4] De Robertis EM. Evo-Devo: variations on ancestral themes. Cell 2008;132: 185–95.
- [5] Eivers E, Fuentealba LC, De Robertis EM. Integrating positional information at the level of Smad1/5/8. Curr Opin Gen Dev 2008;18:304–10.
- [6] De Robertis EM, Sasai Y. A common plan for dorsoventral patterning in Bilateria. Nature 1996;38:37–40.
- [7] Little SC, Mullins MC. Extracellular modulation of BMP activity in patterning the dorsoventral axis. Birth Def Res 2006;78:224–42.
- [8] O'Connor MB, Umulis D, Othmer HG, Blair SS. Shaping BMP morphogen gradients in the Drosophila embryo and pupal wing. Development 2006;133:183–93.
- [9] Reversade B, De Robertis EM. Regulation of ADMP and BMP2/4/7 at opposite embryonic poles generates a self-regulating morphogenetic field. Cell 2005;123:1147–60.
- [10] Kishimoto Y, Lee KH, Zon L, Hammerschmidt M, Schulte MS. The molecular nature of zebrafish swirl: BMP2 function is essential during early dorsoventral patterning. Development 1997;124:4457–66.
- [11] Nguyen VH, Schmid B, Trout J, Connors SA, Ekker M, Mullins MC. Ventral and lateral regions of the zebrafish gastrula, including the neural crest progenitors, are established by a bmp2b/swirl pathway of genes. Dev Biol 1998;199:93–110.
- [12] Schmid B, Furthauer M, Connors SA, Trout J, Thisse B, Thisse C, et al. Equivalent genetic roles for bmp7/snailhouse and bmp2b/swirl in dorsoventral pattern formation. Development 2000;127:957–67.
- [13] Little SC, Mullins MC. Bone morphogenetic protein heterodimers assemble heteromeric type I receptor complexes to pattern the dorsoventral axis. Nat Cell Biol 2009;5:637–43.

- [14] Smith WC, Harland RM. Expression cloning of noggin, a new dorsalizing factor localized to the Spemann organizer in *Xenopus* embryos. Cell 1992;70:829–40.
- [15] Sasai Y, Lu B, Steinbeisser H, Geissert D, Gont LK, De Robertis EM. Xenopus chordin: a novel dorsalizing factor activated by organizer-specific homeobox genes. Cell 1994;79:779–90.
- [16] Piccolo S, Sasai Y, Lu B, De Robertis EM. Dorsoventral patterning in *Xenopus*: inhibition of ventral signals by direct binding of chordin to BMP-4. Cell 1996;86:589–98.
- [17] Zimmerman LB, Jesus-Escobar JM, Harland RM. The Spemann organizer signal noggin binds and inactivates bone morphogenetic protein 4. Cell 1996;86:599– 606.
- [18] Holley SA, Jeffrey NL, Attisano L, Wrana JL, Sasai Y, O'Connor MB, et al. The *Xenopus* dorsalizing factor noggin ventralizes *Drosophila* embryos by preventing DPP from activating its receptor. Cell 1996;86:607–17.
- [19] Khokha MK, Yeh J, Grammer TC, Harland RM. Depletion of three BMP antagonists from Spemann's organizer leads to a catastrophic loss of dorsal structures. Dev Cell 2005;8:401–11.
- [20] Plouhinec JL, De Robertis EM. Systems biology of the self-regulating morphogenetic gradient of the *Xenopus* gastrula. In: Briscoe J, Lawrence P, Vincent JP, editors. Reading and interpreting gradients during development. New York, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 2009. <u>doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.</u> <u>a001701</u>.
- [21] Shi Y, Massague J. Mechanisms of TGF-beta signaling from cell membrane to the nucleus. Cell 2003;113:685–700.
- [22] Feng XH, Derynck R. Specificity and versatility in TGF-β signaling through Smads. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2005;21:659–93.
- [23] Dorfman R, Shilo BZ. Biphasic activation of the BMP pathway patterns the Drosophila embryonic dorsal region. Development 2001;128:965–72.
- [24] Sutherland DJ, Li M, Liu XQ, Stefancsik R, Raftery LA. Stepwise formation of a SMAD activity gradient during dorsal-ventral patterning of the *Drosophila* embryo. Development 2003;130:5705–16.
- [25] Tucker JA, Mintzer KA, Mullins MC. The BMP signaling gradient patterns dorsoventral tissues in a temporally progressive manner along the anteroposterior axis. Dev Cell 2008;14:108–19.
- [26] Coffinier C, Ketpura N, Tran U, Geissert D, De Robertis EM. Mouse crossveinless-2 is the vertebrate homolog of a *Drosophila* extracellular regulator of BMP signaling. Mech Dev 2002;119:179–84.
- [27] Conley CA, Silburn R, Singer MA, Ralston A, Rohwer-Nutter D, Olson DJ, et al. Crossveinless 2 contains cysteine-rich domains and is required for high levels of BMP-like activity during the formation of the cross veins in *Drosophila*. Development 2000;127:3947–59.
- [28] Ambrosio AL, Taelman VF, Lee HX, Metzinger CA, Coffinier C, De Robertis EM. Crossveinless-2 is a BMP feedback inhibitor that binds chordin/BMP to regulate *Xenopus* embryonic patterning. Dev Cell 2008;15:248–60.
- [29] Kiecker C, Niehrs C. A morphogen gradient of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling regulates anteroposterior neural patterning in *Xenopus*. Development 2001;128:4189–201.
- [30] Logan CY, Nusse R. The Wnt signaling pathway in development and disease. Ann Rev Cell Dev Biol 2004;20:781–810.
- [31] Christian JL, Moon RT. Interactions between Xwnt-8 and Spemann organizer signaling pathways generate dorsoventral pattern in the embryonic mesoderm of *Xenopus*. Genes Dev 1993;7:13–28.
- [32] Yu JK, Satou Y, Holland ND, Shin-IT, Kohara Y, Satoh N, et al. Axial patterning in cephalochordates and the evolution of the organizer. Nature 2007;445:613–7.
- [33] McGrew LL, Hoppler S, Moon RT. Wnt and FGF pathways cooperatively pattern anteroposterior neural ectoderm in *Xenopus*. Mech Dev 1997;69:105–14.
- [34] Gurley KA, Rink JC, Sanchez-Alvarado A. β-Catenin defines head versus tail identity during planarian regeneration and homeostatis. Science 2008;319: 323–7.
- [35] Petersen CP, Reddien PW. Smed-betacatenin-1 is required for anteroposterior blastema polarity in planarian regeneration. Science 2008;319:327–30.
- [36] Fedi P, Bafico A, Nieto Soria A, Burgess WH, Miki T, Bottaro DP, et al. Isolation and biochemical characterization of the human Dkk-1 homologue, a novel inhibitor of mammalian Wnt signaling. J Biol Chem 1999;274: 19465–72.
- [37] Glinka A, Wu W, Onichtchouk D, Blumenstock C, Niehrs C. Head induction by simultaneous repression of Bmp and Wnt signalling in *Xenopus*. Nature 1997;389:517–9.
- [38] Glinka A, Wu W, Delius H, Monaghan AP, Blumenstock C, Niehrs C. Dickkopf-1 is a member of a new family of secreted proteins and functions in head induction. Nature 1998;391:357–62.
- [39] Piccolo S, Agius E, Leyns L, Bhattacharyya S, Grunz H, Bouwmeester T, et al. The head inducer cerberus is a multifunctional antagonist of nodal BMP and Wnt signals. Nature 1999;397:707–10.
- [40] Hashimoto H, Itoh M, Yamanaka Y, Yamashita S, Shimizu T, Solnica-Krezel L, et al. Zebrafish Dkk1 functions in forebrain specification and axial mesendoderm formation. Dev Biol 2000;217:138–52.
- $\label{eq:stars} \begin{array}{l} \mbox{[41]} \\ \mbox{Kretzschmar}\, M, Doody J, Massagué J. Opposing BMP and EGF signaling pathways converge on the TGF-β family mediator Smad1. Nature 1997;389:618-22. \end{array}$
- [42] Streit A, Berliner AJ, Papanayotou C, Sirulnik A, Stern CD. Initiation of neural induction by FGF signalling before gastrulation. Nature 2000;406:74–8.
- [43] Wilson SI, Graziano E, Harland RM, Jessel TM, Edlund T. An early requirement for FGF signalling in the acquisition of neural call fate in the chick embryo. Curr Biol 2000;10:421–9.
- [44] Pera EM, Wessely O, Li SY, De Robertis EM. Neural and head induction by insulin-like growth factor signals. Dev Cell 2001;1:655–65.

- [45] Richard-Parpaillon L, Heligon C, Chesnel F, Boujard D, Philpott A. The IGF pathway regulates head formation by inhibiting Wnt signalling in *Xenopus*. Dev Biol 2002;244:407–17.
- [46] Eivers E, McCarthy K, Glynn C, Nolan CM, Byrnes L. Insulin-like growth factor (IGF) signaling is required for early development of the zebrafish embryo. Int J Dev Biol 2004;48:1131–40.
- [47] Pera EM, Ikeda A, Eivers E, De Robertis EM. Integration of IGF, FGF, and anti-BMP signals via Smad1 phosphorylation in neural induction. Genes Dev 2003;17:3023–8.
- [48] Sater AK, El-Hodiri HM, Goswami M, Alexander TB, Al-Sheikh O, Etkin LD, et al. Evidence for antagonism of BMP-4 signals by MAP kinase during *Xenopus* axis determination and neural specification. Differentiation 2003;71:434–44.
- [49] Kuroda H, Fuentealba L, Ikeda A, Reversade B, De Robertis EM. Default neural induction: neuralization of dissociated *Xenopus* cells is mediated by Ras/MAPK activation. Genes Dev 2005;19:1022–7.
- [50] Aubin J, Davy A, Soriano P. In vivo convergence of BMP and MAPK signaling pathways: impact of differential Smad1 phosphorylation on development and homeostasis. Genes Dev 2004;18:1482–94.
- [51] Sapkota G, Alarcon C, Spagnoli FM, Brivanlou AH, Massagué J. Balancing BMP signaling through integrated outputs into the Smad linker. Mol Cell 2007;25:441–54.
- [52] Bilican B, Fiore-Heriche C, Compston A, Allen ND, Chandran S. Induction of Oligo2+ precursors by FGF involves BMP signaling blockade at the Smad level. PLoS ONE 2008; 3(8):e2863. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0002863.
- [53] Zeng YA, Rahnama M, Wang S, Sosu-Sedzorme W, Verheyen EM. Drosophila Nemo antagonizes BMP signaling by phosphorylation of Mad and inhibition of its nuclear accumulation. Development 2007;134:2061–71.
- [54] Cohen P, Frame S. The renaissance of GSK3. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2001;2:769.
 [55] Podos SD, Hanson KK, Wang YC, Ferguson EL. The DSmurf ubiquitin-protein ligase restricts BMP signaling and temporally during *Drosophila* embryogenesis. Dev Cell 2001;1:567–78.
- [56] Murakami G, Watabe T, Takaoka K, Miyazono K, Imarura T. Cooperative inhibition of bone morphogenetic protein signaling by Smurf1 and inhibitory Smads. Mol Biol Cell 2003;14:2809–17.
- [57] Shi W, Chen H, Sun J, Chen C, Zhao J, Wang YL, et al. Overexpression of Smurf1 negatively regulates mouse embryonic lung branching morphogenesis by specifically reducing Smad1 and Smad5 proteins. Am J Physiol Lung Mol Physiol 2004;286:293–300.
- [58] Fuentealba LC, Eivers E, Geissert D, Taelman V, De Robertis EM. Asymmetric mitosis: unequal segregation of proteins destined for degradation. Proc Natl Acd Sci USA 2008;105:7732–7.
- [59] Eivers E, Fuentealba LC, Sander V, Clemens JC, Hartnett L, De Robertis EM. Mad is required for wingless signaling in wing development and segment patterning in Drosophila. PLoS ONE 4(8): e6543. <u>doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0006543</u>.
- [60] Brand AH, Perrimon N. Targeted gene expression as a means of altering cell fates and generating dominant phenotypes. Development 1993;118:401–5.
- [61] Struhl G, Basler K. Organizing activity of wingless protein in Drosophila. Cell 1993;72:527-40.
- [62] Bejsovec A, Wieschaus E. Segment polarity gene interactions modulate epidermal patterning in *Drosophila* embryos. Development 1993;119:501–17.
- [63] Nüsslein-Volhard C, Wieschaus E. Mutations affecting segment number and polarity in Drosophila. Nature 1980;287:795-801.
- [64] Sekelsky JJ, Newfeld SJ, Raftery LA, Chartoff EH, Gelbart WM. Genetic characterization and cloning of mothers against dpp, a gene required for decapentaplegic function in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Genetics 1995;139:1347–58.

- [65] Miyanga Y, Torregroza I, Evans T. A maternal Smad protein regulates early embryonic apoptosis in *Xenopus laevis*. Mol Cell Biol 2002;22:1317–28.
- [66] Pourquié O. The segmentation clock: converting embryonic time into spatial pattern. Science 2003;301:328-30.
- [67] Damen WG. Evolutionary conservation and divergence of the segmentation process in arthropods. Dev Dyn 2007;236:1379–91.
- [68] Pueyo JI, Lanfear R, Couso JP. Ancestral Notch-mediated segmentation revealed in the cockroach *Periplaneta americana*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008;105:16614–9.
- [69] De Robertis EM. Evolutionary biology: the molecular ancestry of segmentation mechanisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008;105:16411–2.



Edward Eivers received his PhD in biochemistry from the National University of Ireland, Galway in 2004, where he studied the role of IGF signaling during zebrafish embryonic development. He currently is a HHMI postdoctoral fellow in the Laboratory of Eddy De Robertis at the University of California, Los Angeles, where he studies the requirement of Mad for Wingless signaling during *Drosophila* wing development and segmentation.



Hadrien Demagny received his masters degree in developmental and cellular biology from the Ecole Normale Superieure Paris, France. He is currently carrying out his PhD research in the Laboratory of Eddy De Robertis at the University of California, Los Angeles. His main area of focus is Smad4 signaling during *Xenopus* development.



Eddy M. De Robertis is Norman Sprague professor of biological chemistry and Howard Hughes Medical Institute investigator at the University of California, Los Angeles. Born in the USA, was raised in Uruguay where he received his MD in 1971. He received a PhD in chemistry from Universidad de Buenos Aires, Argentina, in 1974. For the following six years he was a postdoctoral fellow with Sir John Gurdon at the MRC Laboratory of Molecular Biology in Cambridge, UK. In 1980 he became professor at the Biozentrum of the University of Basel Switzerland and then joined UCLA in 1985 and HHMI in 1994. De Robertis' work has made fundamental contributions to the current realization that the development of both the AP and DV axes is controlled by a genetic toolkit that has been conserved throughout animal evolution